ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


I. 	 The trial court committed reversible error because the jury 
instructions failed to state the proper legal standard after 
including the State's proposed instruction over the defendant's 
objection. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The petitioner asserts that, the dispositive issues herein have been authoritatively 

decided or the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and 

record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by the oral 

argument. Therefore, in conformity with Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure, oral argument is unnecessary. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Appellant, Ryan Christopher Bowen (hereinafter "Mr. Bowen") appeals his 

conviction of grand larceny by jury trial. AR vol. I, 7-9. The 2016 Mingo County 

Grand Jury returned a one count indictment for which he was tried. Id. 33. Following 

conviction, the court heard post-trial motions, which were denied. AR vol. III, 1-32. Mr. 

Bowen was sentenced pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act as punishment, which is 

set forth in the final order from which he appeals. AR vol. I, 4-6. Mr. Bowen at the time 

offiling is incarcerated at the Anthony Center. 
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This Court is being asked to reverse the trial court's decision to incorporate into 

the final jury charge, over objection, the state's proposed instruction on the law of 

larceny that "defendant's mistaken belief of the law is not a defense to the crime 

committed." AR vol. n, 186 line 13-14. As such, the challenge presented goes not to 

the sufficiency of the evidence. Mr. Bowen asks this Court whether the jury was 

properly instructed on the law of grand larceny and bona fide claim of right upon which 

the Bowenjury's decision presently stands. 

Pre-Trial 

Mr. Bowen appeared in person and by counsel before the court at a pre-trial 

conference and notified the State and the court that the State's evidence at trial would 

also be the evidence for the defense. AR vol. II, 9. Further, Mr. Bowen's counsel gave 

notice to the State and the court that the defense intends to use the State's photographs 

previously disclosed as well as call there disclosed witness, John Tincher, so as not be 

released from the State's subpoena at trial until the defense rest. AR voL II, 28. 

Trial 

Opening Statements: 

Counsel for Mr. Bowen opens by informing the jury that the evidence will tend 

to show the theory ofdefense is bona fide claim of right. AR vol II, 99-1 00. 

State's witness, Corporal Mines, testified at trial: 

It is undisputed that during the broad daylight hours of August 17, 2015, Mr. 

Bowen first met with Corporal Mines who spoke with him regarding the big heap of 

metal plates he had noticed in pickup truck bed uncovered. AR vol. II, 103-106. The 

deputy asked Mr. Bowen if that was his truck. Id. 105-06. He confIrmed that it was. Id. 
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106. Their conversation continued as they stood out back of John Tincher's house 

where the alley that parallels the railroad tracks are and where Mr. Bowen's blue truck 

was still parked. 

Further, it is undisputed that Corporal Mines wanted to know why those metal 

plates were in the truck bed. AR vol II, 106. So he asked. Id. Mr. Bowen answered him, 

telling Corporal Mines that he thought he could have them. Id. 

According to Corporal Mine's meandering courtroom description, the metal 

plates were originally located in ballast rock, the gravel, which runs from the railroad 

tracks then down to the edge of the alley, across from there is the truck and driveway, 

which encompasses a total space that is comparable to the distance from the witness 

stand to the backside of the state's counsel table in the circuit courtroom in Williamson. 

AR vol II, 104. He was willing to haul them off from their original location. Id. 106. 

He would then sell them for scrap. Id. Why not, John Tincher gave him permission to 

do so according to Mr. Bowen's statement to Corporal Mines during their conversation. 

Id. 

State's Exhibit, Photographs depicting scene and property in question: 

Also introduced into evidence during Corporal Mine's testimony were 

photographs of the metal plates-the property at issue. Id. 108-16. State's exhibited 

photographs depicted rusting metal on the pile ofmetal pieces shown. AR vol I, 1 (CD). 

Moreover, the pictures revealed neither fenced property boundaries nor any no 

trespassing signs, and no testimony was given to infer that any were present. Id. 

3 



State's Exhibit, Video Recorded Interrogation: 

After their previous conversation, Corporal Mines video recorded his 

interrogation of Mr. Bowen at the stationhouse, which was admitted into evidence at 

trial. AR vol II, 116-17. AR vol I, 1 (CD). Although the recorded statement did not 

capture Mr. Bowen informing his interrogator that John Tincher had given him 

permission to take the metal, Corporal Mines did testify as to Mr. Bowen's telling him 

precisely that during their conversation while at the purported crime scene. AR vol II, 

106. 

It is undisputed that John Tincher was on scene, as well as others, before 

Corporal Mines left with Mr. Bowen in his custody. AR vol II, 105. Moreover, 

Corporal Mines had testified that Mr. Bowen's family and friends had unloaded the 

pickup truck before they left. AR vol II, 106. However, no mention of any statements 

from anyone on scene was included in Corporal Mine's police report or testimony at 

trial. Id. 101-31. 

State's witness, Ricky Lee, testified at trial: 

Over objection by counsel for Mr. Bowen, Ricky Lee testified as to the value of 

the property at issue. AR vol II, 140-42. The ground for this objection was that Ricky 

Lee, although an agent of the alleged victim railroad, testifying as to the value of the 

property was beyond the scope of his employment. Id. Any information in that regards 

would be suspect for either hearsay or mere speculation. However, the State did not 

elicit any testimony from Ricky Lee that connected Mr. Bowen to taking the metal or 

any other elements for grand larceny other than value. AR vol II, 140-49. 
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State's witness, John Tincher: 

The State did not call John Tincher as a witness. Moreover, no other witnesses 

were called. 

Defendant's Case: 

Based on the evidence during the State's case-in-chief, the defense rested. 

Trial Conference, Settling of Instructions: 

Before calling the jury into the courtroom to receIve fmal instruction, a 

conference was held to take up matters to be decided before reading the jury charge. AR 

vol II, 160-88. Mr. Bowen, by counsel, proposed an instruction for bona fide claim of 

right. Id. 164. Although initially challenged, the court granted the request for its 

inclusion into the jury charge after counsel articulated the supporting evidence from 

trial.Id. 170. In response, the State offered its proposed instruction. AR vol II, 165. Mr. 

Bowen's counsel objected to including the State's proposed instruction into the jury 

charge. AR vol II, 165-74. The court subsequently provided copies of its jury charge to 

counsel but, before reading the charge to the jury. AR vol II, 173. Mr. Bowen's counsel 

renewed his objection distinctly stating the grounds during the conference before the 

jury returned. AR vol II, 174. The objection sought a ruling to exclude the state's 

proffered instruction from the court's final charge to the jury because it was 

misstatement of law to be applied in this case. Id. The court overruled. Id. 

Closing Arguments: 

Counsel for the parties both zealously argue to persuade the jury on the element 

of the requisite intent to grand larceny. AR vol II, 190-207. Mr. Bowen's counsel 

emphasizes the good faith basis for mistake of fact, bona fide claim ofright, instruction. 
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S~YOFARGUMENT 

At its heart, and as reasonably inferred from the evidence at trial, the theory of 

defense was that Mr. Bowen had a good faith basis for his mistake of fact in thinking 

the rusty metal plates out back, behind John Tincher's house were not being used. 

Corporal Mines testified at trial that when he spoke with Mr. Bowen, John Tincher told 

him he could have them. Further, because the evidence at trial tended to show that Mr. 

Bowen was from out of state, Ohio, and no fence barriers or no trespassing signs 

appeared to be present or depicted in the photograph exhibits, Mr. Bowen believed John 

Tincher had authority to give them away. As such, Mr. Bowen's proposed instruction 

relied on Kelly and the cases in which it relied in support of his requested instruction 

being given. State v. Kelly, 175 W. Va. 804, 808,338 S.E.2d 405,409 (1985). 

Moreover, the court ultimately granted the giving of the instruction after defense 

counsel articulated these reasonable inferences from the evidence as well as the 

evidence itself at trial. AR vol n, 170. However, the State's response was a proposed a 

mistake of law instruction to be read along with that instructed proposed by Mr. Bowen. 

AR vol n, 169-70. No other charges were presented in the indictment so this was the 

crux of the case-make or break. AR vol II, 96-100. 

A reasonable jury could convict on the evidence at this trial, and did. However, 

any reasonable jury compelled to follow the jury charge, as a whole, in this case could 

not understand the defense presented to them based on the lower court's jury charge at 

issue. "The jury is the trier of facts and 'there is no presumption that they are familiar 

with the law.'" State v. Lindsey, 160 W.Va. 284, 291, 233 S.E.2d 734, 739 (1977), 

quoting State v. Loveless, 139 W.Va. 454, 469,80 S.E.2d 442,450 (1954). Therefore, 
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giving this erroneous instruction should make evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence 

to support a verdict unnecessary. See State v. Hamrick, 160 W.Va. 673, 675, 236 S.E.2d 

247,248 (1977). 

Here, based on the evidence at trial the Bowen jury could have also acquitted if 

they had been given the proper legal standard for the bona fide claim of right required 

intent and the mistake of fact instruction given without joining it to the impermissible 

caveat given by the court-the instruction supplied by the State. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSmLE ERROR BECAUSE THE 
JURy INSTRUCTIONS FAILED TO STATE THE PROPER LEGAL 
STANDARD AFTER INCLUDING THE STATE'S PROPOSED 
INSTRUCTION OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION. 

Standard ofReview 

Generally, we review a trial court's refusal to give or the actual giving of 
a certain instruction under an abuse ofdiscretion standard. Where, 
however, the question is whether the jury instructions failed to state the 
proper legal standard, this Court's review is plenary. "Whether jury 
instructions were properly [legally] given is a question oflaw [.J" U.S. v. 
Morrison, 991 F.2d 112, 116 (4th Cir.1993). 

State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,671,461 S.E.2d 163, 177 n.12 (1995). 

De Novo is the standard of review because the extent of the grounds for defense 

counsel's objection to the challenged instruction is that it failed to state the proper legal 

standard. AR vol II, 170-74. Defense counsel's initial objection to the State's requested 

instruction at issue was first expressed as an instruction that would be confusing. AR 

vol II, 165. However, defense counsel further supported his objection raised in order to 

7 



bring to the court's attention that reading the State's proposed instruction would cause a 

failure in stating the proper legal standard on the law of grand larceny in conjunction 

with the evidence at trial. AR vol II, 170-174. 

At the heart of the theory ofdefense at trial was Mr. Bowen's good faith basis 

for his mistake of fact. The Bowen jury heard counsel on both sides in opening state 

what the evidence was expected to show, as well as in closing where both sides 

vigorously argued intent as the crux of the case. AR vol II, 96-100 and 190-207. 

Moreover, defense counsel articulated facts at trial in support ofMr. Bowen's 

requested Kelly instruction, which the court granted. In response, the State proposed a 

mistake of law instruction to be read along with the instruction proposed by Mr. Bowen. 

AR vol II, 169-70. 

Mr. Bowen's counsel objected, bringing notice to the court of the error and in 

time to correct it before instructing the jury. AR vol II, 174. But, the trial court 

overruled the objection. Id. As such, the bona fide claim of right instruction lost any 

and all common sense meaning because improper legal standard was given for which 

the reading of the jury charge as a whole did not correct. 

Therefore, the issue should be a plenary review of the legal propriety ofthe 

instruction based on defense counsel's objection, which challenged the lower court's 

statement of the legal standard at time when it could be corrected before reading it to 

the jury. 

Alternatively, if abuse of discretion standard were to be applied under review, 

this issue should not survive any such scrutiny because it cannot be said that a jury 

beyond reasonable did not choose to convict because the court's instruction: "a 
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defendant's mistaken belief of the law is not a defense to the crime committed." AR vol 

II, 186. 

Under Bradshaw analysis, the jury instructions in this case would be reviewed to 

determine whether when taken as a whole and in light of the evidence they mislead the 

jury or stated the law incorrectly to the prejudice of the objecting party. 193 W.Va. 519, 

543,457 S.E.2d 456,480 (1995). The heart of the issue in this case is properly 

instructing the jury on bona fide claim of right in conjunction with the requisite intent as 

an element of grand larceny. 

Here, the trial court found evidentiary support for including the bona fide claim 

of right instruction as proposed by Mr. Bowen, but the legal standard on the necessary 

element of intent for grand larceny was eviscerated when the court incorporating the 

State's proposed instruction into the meaning of intent: "However, a defendant's 

mistaken belief of the law is not a defense to the crime committed." AR vol II, 186. 

Therefore, analyzing the trial court's formulation of the instructions and the 

choice of language used under abuse of discretion review, Mr. Bowen's conviction 

should still not stand because the instructions read as a whole remained either incorrect 

as a matter of law on the standard for bona fide claim of right and the element of intent 

for grand larceny or high probability exists, showing that it confused and thereby 

mislead the Bowen jury to the prejudice ofMr. Bowen. 

No person shall be deprived oflife, liberty, or property, without due 
process of law, and the judgment ofhis peers. 

W. Va. Const. art. III, § 10. 

The record before the Court in this case includes the lower court's jury charge 

and complete trial transcripts, containing the legal standard to be applied when 

9 



evaluating the evidence whether a larceny was committed. The Bowen jury was 

instructed on the meaning of larceny as follows: 

DefInition of Grand Larceny, West Virginia Code 61-3-13, grand a petit 
larceny distinguished. If a person commits simple larceny of goods or 
chattels the value of one thousand dollars or more, such person is guilty 
of a felony, designated grand larceny. If a person commits simple 
larceny of goods or chattels of the value of less than one thousand dollars 
it will be petit larceny. 

The Court instructs the jury that one who takes property in good 
faith under fair color or claim of title, honestly believing that he or she is 
the owner or has a right to take it, is not guilty of larceny, even though he 
or she may be mistaken in such belief, since in such case the felonious 
intent is lacking. If you have a reasonable doubt whether or not the 
defendant has a bona fIde claim of ownership to the specifIc property and 
therefore, had no intent to steal, you must fmd the defendant not guilty. 
However, a defendant's mistaken belief of the law is not a defense to the 
crime committed. 

AR vol II, 186 lines 4-14. 

Guiding the Bowen jury for its task of deliberating on the court's charge to 

apply the facts of the case and reasonable inferences therefrom to the law on bona fIde 

claim of right was the instruction proposed by the State: "However, a defendant's 

mistaken belief of the law is not a defense to the crime committed." AR vol II 186 lines 

13-14. AR vol I, 19. This instruction misstates the law applicable to the case; 

moreover, it misleads by causing a logical contradiction to the law of a bona fIde claim 

of right. Because of this error Mr. Bowen was denied a fair trial as guaranteed by W. 

Va. Const. art. III, § 10. 

A trial court's instructions to the jury must be a correct statement of the 
law and supported by the evidence. Jury instructions are reviewed by 
determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, sufficiently 
instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not 
mislead by the law. A jury instruction cannot be dissected on appeal; 
instead, the entire instruction is looked at when determining its accuracy. 
A trial court, therefore, has broad discretion in formulating its charge to 
the jury, so long as the charge accurately reflects the law. Deference is 
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given to a trial court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the 
instruction, and the precise extent and character of any specific 
instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse ofdiscretion. 

State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 663-64,461 S.E.2d 163, 169-70 (1995). 

Mr. Bowen's counsel requested an instruction on the law of a bona fide claim of 

right at trial after the conclusion of the evidence. AR vol II, 164. When questioned by 

the court, he articulated the grounds for his proposed instruction based on the evidence 

at trial. AR vol II, 170. Mr. Bowen's proposed instruction was timely. Id. Thus, the 

proposed instruction was requested in confonnity with Rule 30 of the West Virginia 

Rules ofCriminal Procedure, which he relied on during the conference. AR vol II, 162. 

Mr. Bowen's proposed instruction relied up State v. Kelly, 175 W. Va. 804,338 S.E.2d 

405 (1985). AR vol II, 169. The court's decision was to instruct the jury on the law of 

bona fide claim of right. 

The following statement from 52A C.J.S. Larceny § 25 at 448 (1968), is 
directly applicable to Kelly's defense in the instant case: "One who takes 
the property of another by the authority of a third person whom he 
believes in good faith to be the owner or entitled to the possession is not 
guilty of larceny." (Footnote omitted). This matter is summarized in W. 
Lafave & A. Scott, Handbook on Criminal Law 638 (1972), as follows: 
"One may take the property of another honestly but mistakenly believing 
... that the owner has given him pennission to take it as he did. In ... such 
event, he lacks the intent to steal required for larceny, even though his 
mistaken but honest belief was unreasonable. As to how the defendant 
can prove his claim that he actually had such an honest belief, it has been 
pointed out that the openness of the taking, as well as the 
reasonableness of the belief, though not conclusive, will buttress his 
claim of good faith." (Footnotes omitted). 

State v. Kelly, 175 W. Va. 804, 808, 338 S.E.2d 405,409 (1985) (emphasis supplied). 

Although the theory of defense presented at trial did not guarantee victory, Mr. 

Bowen's bona fide claim of right instruction as proposed was proper, based on the 

evidence at trial, for the jury to decide. What was conclusive was that pennitting the 
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State's proposed instruction in the jury charge would logically deny the jury an 

opportunity to logically follow the law ofbona fide claim properly before making its 

decision of guilty or not guilty. In conformity with Rule 30 of the West Virginia Rules 

a/Criminal Procedure, Mr. Bowen's counsel timely objected to the State's requested 

instruction and set for the grounds for the objection to the extent that the court would 

permit. AR vol II, 164-74. 

The jury charge, in this case, when taken as a whole and in light of the evidence, 

mislead the Bowen jury and stated the law of bona fide claim of right and the requisite 

intent for grand larceny incorrectly to the prejudice ofMr. Bowen, the objecting party. 

State v. Guthrie, 194 w. Va. 657, 671-72, 461 S.E.2d 163, 177-78 (1995). This Court 

"will reverse only if the instructions are incorrect as a matter of law or capable of 

confusing and thereby misleading the jury." Id. However, in this case it is both. 

Therefore, Mr. Bowen's conviction should be reversed. 

CONCLUSION 

The Mingo County Circuit Court's order upholding the petitioner's first time 

felony conviction should be reversed, and this matter should be remanded for further 

proceedings. 

SIGNED: .~ ~r;fs~-----cr--
Paul Andrew Montgomery 
w. Va. Bar No. 11479 
Counsel ofRecord for Petitioner, 
Ryan Christopher Bowen