IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

NO. 16-0431 

RYAN CHRISTOPHER BOWEN, 

Petitioner, 

v. 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 


Respondent. 

SUMMARY RESPONSE ON BEHALF OF THE RESPONDENT 

Comes now the Respondent, the State of West Virginia, by counsel, Julie A. Warren, 

Assistant Attorney General, and files the within summary response in opposition to the 

Petitioner's Brief.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Ryan Christopher Bowen ("Petitioner"), was indicted on a charge of grand larceny, in 

violation of W. Va. Code § 61-3-13(a), by the Circuit Court of Mingo County. App. Vol. 1 at 

33-34. The Indictment alleged that Petitioner stole 124 steel tie plates, the approximate value of 

which totaled $4,960.00. ld. at 33. 

At trial, Cpl. Norman Mines, from the Mingo County Sheriffs Department, testified that 

he responded to a 911 call from Norfolk Southern representatives, advising that metal tie plates 

from railroad property had been discovered in a truck beside a residence belonging to John 

Tincher. ld. at 101-05. The truck was discovered to belong to Petitioner. ld. When 

questioned, Petitioner claimed that Mr. Tincher told him he could have the metal, but he would 
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not make a statement to this effect because he "didn't want to be a rat." ld. at 106, 124. During 

the course of the investigation, Cpl. Mines took a statement from Petitioner wherein he offered 

no info11l1ation to indicate that he believed he had pennission to take the property. ld. at 115-18, 

128. Ricky Lee, the track supervisor for Norfolk Southern's Williamson yard, testified that he 

never gave Petitioner permission to take the metal tie plates, nor did he have the authority to do 

so, and that the metal ties were taken from railroad property. Id. at 137, 143-44, 146, 148. 

Petitioner did not present any evidence at trial. ld. at 158. However, based on the 

State's evidence, Petitioner submitted a jury instruction on a "bona fide claim of right," which 

the circuit court accepted as "a clear statement of the law" pursuant to State v. Kelly, 175 W. Va 

804,338 S.E.2d 405 (1985) (per curiam). ld. at 162-64, 169. The State then requested that the 

instruction clarify that "[j]ust because [Petitioner] was mistaken that it wasn't a crime does not 

make it not a crime," because "any mistake of law by [Petitioner] is not a defense to that crime." 

Id. at 165, 169. Petitioner's counsel argued that such language is "not relevant" and 

"confusing." ld. at 165, 170-72, 174. The circuit court determined to include the following 

language in the instruction to distinguish between a mistake of fact and mistake oflaw: 

The Court instructs the jury that one who takes property in good faith under fair 
color or claim of title, honestly believing that he or she is the owner or has a right 
to take it, is not guilty of larceny, even though he or she may be mistaken in such 
belief, since in such case the felonious intent is lacking. If you have a reasonable 
doubt whether or not the defendant had a bona fide claim of ownership to the 
specific property and therefore, had no intent to steal, you must find the defendant 
not guilty. However, a defendant's mistaken belief of the law is not a defense to 
the crime committed. 

.. 

ld. at 174, 186. The jury was then instructed that to find Petitioner guilty of larceny, they must 

find that Petitioner "did unlawfully, knowingly, intentionally, larcenously and feloniously steal, 

take and carry away [124] steel tie plates valued at over $1,000.00, that belonged to Norfolk 

Southern Railroad ...." ld. at 186. During closing, the State argued that "the fact that he did not 
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know - if he really believes it wasn't a crime is not a defense," then clarified that "whether 

[Petitioner] truly thought it was not unlawful is not a defense to this crime." ld. at 194-95. The 

State analogized that driving 55 mph in a 45 mph zone is still speeding even if one thought the 

speed limit was 55 mph. ld. at 195. Petitioner's counsel also explained the bona fide claim of 

right instruction as it relates to Petitioner's factual claim that "John Tincher said [he] could" take 

the items, creating reasonable doubt that he acted with the "specific intent" to "knowingly, 

willfully, feloniously tak[ e] property" from Norfolk Southern, and thereby discrediting the Grand 

Larceny charge. ld. at 200-01. On rebuttal, the State reminded the jury that John Tincher did 

not have the authority to give away property that he did not own. ld. at 206. 

The jury found Petitioner guilty of grand larceny.l The circuit court sentenced Petitioner 

to a term of 6 months to 2 years to be served at the Anthony Correctional Center. App. Vol. I at 

4-5, 7-9, 13; App. Vol. II at 210-11. 

II. ARGUMENT 

a. Standard of Review 

While this Court has held that "[a] trial court's instructions to the jury must be a correct 

statement of the law and supported by the evidence," when challenged on appeal "fj]ury 

instructions are reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, sufficiently 

instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not mislead by the law." 

Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). "A jury instruction cannot 

be dissected on appeal; instead, the entire instruction is looked at when determining its 

accuracy," and thus, "[a] trial court ....has broad discretion in formulating its charge to the jury, 

so long as the charge accurately reflects the law." ld. This Court extends "[d]eference .... to a 

1 Petitioner later filed a post-conviction motion for acquittal on the grounds that the inclusion of the "ignorance of 
the law" language into the "bona fide claim of right" instruction was confusing. App. Vol. III. The circuit court 
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trial court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the instruction, and the precise extent 

and character of any specific instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse ofdiscretion." Id. 

b. 	 The Circuit Court's Instruction to the Jury Concerning a Bona Fide Claim of 
Right was Legally Sound 

The circuit court's "bona fide claim of right" instruction was a correct statement of the 

law. Because the question of "[w ]hether a claim of right under which property has been so 

taken was bona fide, or only pretended, is generally a question of fact for the jury," the circuit 

court instructed the jury accordingly. Syl. State v. Bailey, 63 W. Va. 668, 60 S.E. 785 (1908). 

However, it was also proper for the circuit court to include language in the "bona fide claim of 

right" instruction that distinguished a mistakes of law and mistakes of fact, as the later negates 

the element of intent that is required to convict Petitioner of grand larceny. See Harner v. Price, 

17 W. Va. 523, 544 (1880) ("The ground of this distinction between ignorance of law and 

ignorance of fact seems to be, as every man of reasonable understanding is presumed to know the 

law, and to act upon the rights, which it confers or supports, when he knows all the facts, it is 

culpable negligence in him to do an act. . . But no person can be presumed to be acquainted with 

all matters of fact; neither is it possible by any degree of diligence in all cases to acquire that 

knowledge; and therefore an ignorance of fact does not import culpable negligence.") 

A "bona fide claim of right" relies upon a mistake of fact that "must [be] reasonable and 

based on circumstances and facts which would lead a reasonable person to think he had a right to 

go on the land and procure his property, he was not guilty of any offense." State v. Travis, 139 

W. Va. 363, 371, 81 S.E.2d 678,683 (1954). Here, Petitioner's entire "bona fide claim ofright" 

defense centered on a self-serving statement that he made to Cpl. Mines claiming that John 

Tincher said he could take the metal tie plates. Mr. Tincher was not called to testify to 

denied the motion. Id. at 8. 
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corroborate Petitioner's statement, and no facts were presented at trial to suggest it was 

reasonable for Petitioner to believe Mr. Tincher had the right to make such a conveyance. 

In fact, based on the evidence, a jury could have determined that Petitioner's actions were 

based on a mistake of law. Cpl. Mines testified that Petitioner refused to provide investigators 

with an official statement to affirming his claim of right because he "didn't want to be a rat." 

Based on this testimony, the jury could reasonably conclude that Petitioner never believed 

Mr. Tincher had the right to give him the property, but that he took the property anyway without 

having contemplated that this act would constitute grand larceny. This mistake oflaw would not 

qualify for the "bona fide claim of right" defense, and thus, it was legally sound and proper for 

the circuit court to instruct the jury accordingly. 

Furthermore, because the law draws a clear distinction between a mistake of fact and a 

mistake of law, Petitioner's argument that the circuit court's instruction outlining this distinction 

is "a logical contradiction" and that it misled the jury is misplaced. Pt'r's Br. at 10. Moreover, 

both the State and Petitioner took the opportunity during their closing statements to further 

explain this distinction. The jury was free to determine that Petitioner's self-serving statement 

was not a compelling defense to the grand larceny charge, and there is no merit to the argument 

that they were otherwise misled by the jury instructions. Finally, it is unlikely that the language 

in the "bona fide claim of right" instruction had a substantial impact on the outcome of the case, 

given the shortage ofevidence presented at trial in support ofPetitioner's claim. 

* * * 
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III. CONCLUSION 


For the reasons herein stated, the State of West Virginia respectfully requests that the 

Court affirm the conviction of the Circuit Court ofMingo County, West Virginia.